

**THE COMPANIES ACT**  
**(CHAPTER 486 OF THE LAWS OF KENYA)**

-----  
**COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE**  
-----

**MEMORANDUM**  
  
**AND**  
  
**ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION**  
  
**OF**  
  
**AFRICAN SECURITIES EXCHANGES ASSOCIATION**

**THE COMPANIES ACT**  
**(Chapter 486, Laws of Kenya)**  
**COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE**

-----

**MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION**  
**OF AFRICAN SECURITIES EXCHANGES ASSOCIATION**

- 1.** The name of the Association is "African Securities Exchanges Association".
- 2.** The Registered Office of the Association will be situate in Kenya.
- 3.** The objects for which the Association is established are:-
  - (a) PRIMARY OBJECTS AND POWERS**
    - (i) To establish an association for systematic mutual cooperation, exchange of information, materials and persons, mutual assistance and joint programmes between the members;
    - (ii) To promote the establishment of securities exchanges in all African countries;
    - (iii) To promote the development of common standards of training and professionalism among members of the Association and other market players;
    - (iv) To promote common standards of issuing, listing, trading and settlement of securities;
    - (v) To facilitate the development and promotion of products and services for Africa's capital markets;
    - (vi) To assist members in the promotion and development of the range of services associated with the capital markets;
    - (vii) To develop and promote a data bank and information system for the mutual benefit of members;
    - (viii) To study, and research on matters of mutual interest to members;

- (ix) To disseminate information; produce materials in all media, hold conferences, seminars and exhibitions, and conduct other public education activities relevant to the interests of members;
- (x) To ensure that the views and interests of the Association are promoted in the appropriate worldwide fora; and
- (xi) To do all other things, not inconsistent with the foregoing as shall promote the objects and powers.

**(b) ANCILLARY POWERS**

- (i) The establishment of funds or trust for purposes within the scope of these objects.
- (ii) To conduct education, training and publicity activities in all media and languages to develop and to create a public understanding of the securities business.
- (iii) To invest the moneys of the Association not immediately required by the Association in the purchase or upon the security of shares, stocks, debentures (whether secured or unsecured) debenture stocks, annuities, bonds, mortgages, obligations and securities and investments of any kind whatsoever issued or guaranteed by any company (corporation or undertaking) of whatsoever nature and wheresoever constituted or carrying on business and shares, stocks, debentures (whether secured or unsecured) debenture stocks, bonds mortgages, obligations and other securities issued or guaranteed by any Government, Sovereign Ruler, Commissioners, Trust, Municipal, Local or other Authority or body of whatever nature whether in member country or abroad.
- (iv) To lend or otherwise deal with the moneys of the Association in such manner as may from time to time be determined by the committee of the Association.
- (v) To borrow or raise and in any manner secure the payment or moneys for the purposes of or in connection with the Association's business.
- (vi) To mortgage and charge the undertaking and all or any of the movable and immovable property and assets, present or future, and all or any of the uncalled capital for the time being of the Association, and to issue at par or at a premium or discount, and

for such consideration and with and subject to such rights powers, privileges and conditions as may be thought fit, debentures or debenture-stocks, either permanent or redeemable or repayable and to make and issue other forms of security and collateral further to secure any securities of the Association by a Trust Deed or other assurance.

- (vii) To draw, make accept, endorse negotiate, discount and execute promissory notes, bills of exchange and other negotiable instruments and commercial or trading documents.
- (viii) To purchase, take on lease or in exchange hire or otherwise acquire and hold for any estate or interest any lands, buildings, easements, rights, privileges, concessions, patents, patent rights, trade marks, trade names, licenses, secret processes, machinery plant, stock-in-trade, and movable or immovable property of any kind whatsoever, necessary or convenient for the purpose of or in connection with business, undertaking, property, rights, assets, liabilities and transaction of any other company corporation, firm or person, carrying on in Kenya or elsewhere business which this Association is authorized to carry on, or possessed of any property or rights suitable for the purposes of this Association for such consideration and on such terms as the Association may determine.
- (ix) To sell, improve, manage, develop, exchange, mortgage, dispose of, turn to account, let lease or demise (Whether on rent, royalty or with share of profits or otherwise) and in any other manner to deal with all or any part of the undertaking, property, assets and rights of the Association, and to grant licences easements and other rights in or over the same, and to sell or dispose of the business, undertaking, property rights, assets, liabilities and transactions of the Association and in any of such cases to accept payment for the same either in cash, by instalments or otherwise, or in fully or partly paid up shares of any other company or corporation with or without preferred or deferred or guaranteed rights in respect of dividend or repayment of capital or otherwise or in debentures or mortgage debentures or debenture stock, mortgages or other securities of any company or corporation or partly in one mode and partly in another, or for such other consideration and generally on such terms as the Association may determine and hold, dispose of or otherwise deal with any shares, stock, or securities so acquired.
- (x) To erect, construct, lay down enlarge, alter and maintain any roads, offices, buildings, and such other structures necessary or

convenient for the Association's business and to contribute to or subsidise the erection, construction and maintenance of any of the same.

- (xi) To grant pensions, allowances, gratuities, bonuses, and other benefits to officers, ex-officers and employees (including directors and ex-directors) of the Association or its predecessors in business or the dependants or connections of any such persons to establish, contribute to and maintain or concur or join with any other companies, corporations, firms or persons in establishing, contributing, to and maintaining trusts, funds, or schemes (whether contributory or non-contributory) with a view to providing pensions, provident fund benefits, sickness or compassionate allowances, life assurances or other benefits for any such persons as aforesaid, their dependants or connections and to support or subscribe to any charitable funds or institutions, the support which may, in the opinion of the committee be calculated directly or indirectly to benefit the Association or its officers or employees, and to institute and maintain any club or other establishment or profit sharing scheme calculated to advance the interests of the Association or its officers or employees.
- (xii) To enter into any partnership arrangement or arrangements for sharing profits, union of interests reciprocal concession, or co-operation with any company, firm or person carrying on or proposing to carry on any business within the objects of this Association and to attend to and deal with any ancillary function in connection therewith and generally to subsidize or otherwise assist any such company.
- (xiii) To establish or promote or concur in establishing or promoting any other company whose objects include the acquisition and taking over of all or any part of the business, undertaking, property rights, assets, liabilities, and transactions of this association or the promotion of which shall be in any manner calculated to advance directly or indirectly the objects or interests of this Association.
- (xiv) To amalgamate with any other company whose objects are or include objects similar to those of this Association whether by sale or purchase (for fully or partly paid up shares or otherwise) of the undertaking subject to the liabilities of this and or such other company as aforesaid, or by partnership, or in any other manner.

- (xv) To undertake and execute trusts the undertaking whereof may seem desirable, and either gratuitously or otherwise.
- (xvi) To adopt such means of making known the business of the Association and or others as may seem expedient and in particular by advertising in the press, on the radio, by circulars, by purchase and exhibition of works of art or interest by publication of books and periodicals and by granting prizes, rewards and donations and by propaganda of all kinds.
- (xvii) To appoint, engage, employ, maintain, provide for dismiss, and terminate officers, managers and other employees of every description and to remunerate any such at such rate in such manner, as shall be thought fit.
- (xviii) To promote freedom of contracts and to resist, insure against, counteract, discourage interference therewith and to subscribe to any association or fund for any such purposes.
- (xix) To aid pecuniarily or otherwise, any association body or movement having for an object the solution settlement or surmounting of industrial or labour problems, troubles or disputes or the promotion of industry or trade.
- (xx) To enter into any arrangement with any Government or other authorities Supreme, Municipal, local or otherwise and to obtain from any such Government or Authority all rights, concessions and privileges that may seem conducive to the Association's objects or any of them.
- (xxi) To procure the Association to be registered, incorporated or otherwise empowered or represented in any country or place outside Kenya.
- (xxii) To pay all expenses incidental to the formation or promotion of this Association.
- (xxiii) To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the above objects or any of them.

It is hereby declared that in the foregoing paragraphs of this Clause (unless a contrary intention appears) the word "Person" includes any number of persons and a company, and the word "company" shall be deemed to include a corporation and partnership or other body of persons

whether incorporated or not and whether domiciled or incorporated or registered in Kenya or elsewhere.

- 4.** (a) The income and property of the Association whencesoever derived shall be applied solely towards the promotion of the objects of the Association as set forth in this Memorandum of Association; and no portion thereof shall be paid or transferred directly or indirectly, by way of dividend, gift, division, bonus, or otherwise howsoever by way of profit, to the members of the Association.

(b) Nothing herein shall prevent the payment, in good faith, of reasonable and proper remuneration to any officer including but not limited to the Secretary, Deputy Secretary, Assistant Secretary or any other servant of the Association, or to any member of the Association, in return for any services actually rendered to the Association; nor prevent the payment of Directors' and consultancy fees to any Director of the Association; nor prevent the payment of interest at a rate not exceeding current bank rate on money lent, or reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let by any member to the Association.

(c) Nothing hereinbefore contained shall prevent any payment to any company of which a member of the Executive Committee may be a member or shareholder.
- 5.** The liability of the members is limited.
- 6.** Every member of the Association undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Association in the event of its being wound up while it is a member and up one year after it ceases to be a member, for payment of the debts and liabilities of the Association contracted before it ceases to be member and costs, charges and expenses of winding up and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves such amount as may be required not exceeding Kenya shillings ten thousand ( Kshs10,000) only.

We, the several persons whose names and addresses are subscribed, are desirous of being formed into a company in pursuance of this Memorandum of Association.

-----  
Names, Address and Descriptions  
of the Subscribers

Signature of  
Subscribers  
-----


Names, Address and Descriptions  
of the Subscribers

Signature of  
Subscribers


**DATED** the \_\_\_\_\_ **day of** \_\_\_\_\_

**Witness to the above signatures:**

**NAME:** .....

**OCCUPATION:** .....

**POSTAL ADDRESS** .....

**SIGNATURE:** .....

**CERTIFICATE UNDER THE COMPANIES REGULATIONS**

Certified that the above Memorandum of Association has been produced by the method of Xerography.

**THE COMPANIES ACT**  
**(Chapter 486, Laws OF Kenya)**  
**COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE**

-----

**ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION  
OF  
AFRICAN SECURITIES EXCHANGES ASSOCIATION**

**PRELIMINARY**

**Rules in  
Table "C"  
not to apply**

- 1.** The Rules contained in Table "C" of the First Schedule to the Companies Act Cap.486 of the Laws of Kenya shall not apply to the African Securities Exchanges Association, which shall be governed by the Rules contained in these Articles but subject to repeal, alteration, or addition by Special Resolution.

**Interpretation**

- 2.** (a) In these Articles, if not inconsistent with the subject or context, the words standing in the first column of the table next hereinafter contained shall bear the meanings set opposite to them respectively in the second column thereof:

<b>WORDS</b>	<b>MEANINGS</b>
<b>The Association</b> :	African Securities Exchanges Association
<b>Registered Office</b> :	The Registered office of Association for the time being and from time to time

<b>The Statutes</b>	:	The Companies Act Cap. 486 of the Laws of Kenya and every other Act for the time being in force concerning companies and affecting the Association.
<b>The Act</b>	:	Has the same meaning assigned thereto as "the Statutes".
<b>Executive Committee</b>	:	As appointed by the Members under these presents
<b>Directors</b>	:	Members of the Executive Committee for the time being of the Association.
<b>These Presents</b>	:	The Memorandum of Association and/or the Articles of Association of African Securities Exchanges as herein set out or as from time to time altered by Special Resolution.
<b>Rules and By-Laws</b>	:	The Rules and By-Laws framed and presented by the Executive Committee including any amendment thereto.
<b>Securities</b>	:	Shares, stocks, bonds, debentures, notes, options, and all other kinds of certificates or transferable documents of indebtedness or any right or interest therein whether issued by companies, public bodies, corporate bodies or government authority.
<b>Stockbrokers</b>	:	A company, corporate body or individual who carries on the business of a broker in securities.

<b>The Secretary</b>	:	Any person appointed to perform the duties of the Secretary of the Association in accordance with any statutory provision relating thereto and in addition who shall be in-charge of the day to day management of the Association.
<b>The Seal</b>	:	The Common Seal of the Association.
<b>Month</b>	:	Calendar Month
<b>Year</b>	:	Calendar Year

(b) Expressions referring to writing shall, unless the contrary intention bears, be construed as including reference to printing lithography, photography, modes of representing or reproducing words in a visible form.

(c) Words importing the singular number only shall include the plural and vice versa, and words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender, and words importing persons shall include corporations and companies.

(d) Save as aforesaid, any words or expressions defined in the statutes shall, if not inconsistent with the subject or context herein, bear the same meaning in these presents.

### **MEMBERSHIP**

#### **Number and Types of Members 3.**

(a) The number of members with which the company proposes to be registered is fifty (50) but the Directors may from time to time register an increase of members.

- (b) The members of the Association shall be the subscribers to the Memorandum of Association and such others as may be admitted in accordance with these presents
- (c) There are three categories of members, namely:
  - full member, associate member and observer status.
  - (i) Full Membership is open to a securities exchange which is legally recognized and in operation in its country of location:
  - (ii) Associate Membership is open to a securities exchange or nascent securities exchange which does not meet in all respects the full membership criteria.
  - (iii) Observer status is open to a national or international organization that has an interest in or is concerned with securities exchanges and that wishes to participate or assist in any constructive way in furthering the objectives of the Association.

**Eligibility for Membership**

- 4.** Any Securities Exchange or nascent Securities Exchange located in Africa may apply for membership of the Association in the form of the Schedule to these presents.

**Executive Committee's Power to refuse Membership**

- 5.** The Executive Committee shall have power at its absolute discretion and without assigning any reason therefore to decline to admit any application to membership of the Association.

**Members bound by Rules**

- 6.** Every applicant upon being admitted to membership shall be bound by these presents and by the Rules of the Association.

**Suspension and Cessation of Membership**

- 7.** (a) A Member may, upon giving at least six (6) months notice in writing to the President of its intention to do so, withdraw from the Association on the 31<sup>st</sup> December following the expiry of the notice.

- (b) The Executive Committee shall have the power to suspend from membership any member and to recommend to the Association the expulsion of such member for the following causes;
  - (i) non-compliance with the criteria and obligations of membership; or
  - (ii) engaging in acts in breach of the objects of the Association.
  
- (c) Upon presentation of a motion to that effect the Association may, by resolution passed by a majority of not less than two-thirds of its members present and voting-
  - (i) ratify the suspension of a Member by the Executive Committee, or
  - (ii) approve the recommendation of the Executive Committee for expulsion of a Member, or
  - (ii) suspend or expel from membership of the Association any Member which fails to pay the annual subscription within four months from the date on which it fell due.
  
- (d) A Member which has been suspended from membership of the Association in terms of this Article and which has not paid its annual subscriptions by the next meeting of the Association, shall forthwith cease to be a member of the Association unless the Executive Committee has either generally or in the particular case, otherwise decided.
  
- (e) The presentation of a motion for suspension or expulsion of a Member shall be signed by not less than four (4) members of the Association, and shall not be effective unless a copy of the motion shall have been served on the Member at least three months prior to the date of the meeting.

**Consequences of  
Suspension,  
Expulsion  
and Cessation  
from Membership**

**8.**

- (f) The Member sought to be suspended or expelled shall have the right to make written and/or oral representations at the relevant meeting as to why it should not be suspended or expelled, as the case may be.
- (a) A Member which has been suspended from membership of the Association shall not be entitled to attend meetings of the Association or to receive any documents or papers otherwise distributed by the Association to Members during the period of suspension.
- (b) The suspension of a Member shall not in any way operate as a waiver of that Member's obligation to pay annual subscriptions to the Association.
- (c) Upon the suspension or expulsion of any Member the Executive Committee shall prescribe the conditions upon which such suspension may be terminated, and the expelled body may re-apply for membership.
- (d) The Executive Committee shall advise the Association of any member that has ceased to exist as a recognized securities exchange in its country of location and if any monies or other obligations are outstanding to the Association from such member, the Executive Committee shall take appropriate legal and other measures to recover such monies or secure the discharge of such obligations.

**GENERAL MEETINGS**

**Annual General  
Meeting**

**9.**

- (a) The Association shall in each year hold a general meeting as its annual general meeting in addition to any other meetings in that year, and shall specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it; and not more than fifteen (15) months shall elapse between the dates of one annual general meeting of the Association and that of the next.

(b) The annual general meeting shall be held at such time and place as the Executive Committee shall appoint.

**Extra-ordinary Meetings**

**10.**

(a) All General Meetings other than Annual General Meetings shall be called extraordinary general meetings.

(b) The Executive Committee may whenever they think fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.

**Notice of Meetings**

**11.**

An annual general meeting and a meeting called for passing of a special resolution shall be called by twenty-one (21) days' notice in writing at the least. A meeting other than an annual general meeting or a meeting for the passing of a special resolution shall be called by fourteen (14) days' notice in writing at the least. The notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed to be served and of the day for which it is given, and shall specify the place, the day and the hour of meeting and, in case of special business, the specific resolution pertaining thereto shall be given to such persons as are, under the Articles of Association entitled to receive such notices from the Association.

Provided that a meeting of the Association shall notwithstanding that it is called by shorter notice than that specified in these Articles be deemed to have been duly called if it is so agreed;

(i) In the case of a meeting called as the annual general meeting by all the members entitled to attend and vote thereat; and

(ii) In the case of any other meeting, by a majority in number of the members having a right to attend and vote at the meeting, being a majority together representing not less than ninety five (95%) per cent of the total voting rights at that meeting of all the members.

**Who may receive notice of meetings**

- 12.** (a) Notice of every general meeting shall be given in any manner hereinbefore authorised to:-
- (i) Every member who has supplied to the Association an address for the giving of notice to him/them; and
  - (ii) The auditor for the time being of the Association
- (b) No other persons shall be entitled to receive notice of general meetings.

**Accidental omission to give notice shall not invalidate meeting**

- 13.** The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to or the non receipt of notice of a meeting by, any person entitled to received notice shall not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

**PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS**

**Special and Routine business**

- 14.** All business shall be deemed special that is transacted at an extraordinary general meeting, and also all that is transacted at an annual general meeting, with the exception of the consideration of the accounts, balance sheets, the reports of the directors and auditors, the election of Directors in the place of those retiring and the appointment of and the fixing of the remuneration of the Auditors.







- (c) The President, the Deputy President or a representative to the Executive Committee shall serve for a term of two years and may seek re-election for one further term of two years:

Provided that the President, the Deputy President or a representative to the Executive Committee may notwithstanding that they have served for the maximum two consecutive terms of two years each as aforesaid, continue in office if no person is nominated or offers himself or herself for the respective office.

- (d) Membership of the Executive Committee of the Association shall as far as possible be representative of the Pan-African nature of the Association. Each of the main regions of Africa; namely; Eastern, Western, Southern, Northern and Central Africa regions should have representation on the Executive Committee

**Procedure of nomination of representatives to the Executive Committee**

**26.**

- (a) Any member of the Association shall be entitled to nominate one candidate as its representative to the Executive Committee. The nomination shall be made in writing, signed by the Proposer and deposited at the Registered Office of the Association not less than fourteen (14) days before the date of the proposed Annual General Meeting accompanied by a declaration in writing from the Nominee indicating his willingness to be so elected.
- (b) For the purposes of this Article the Proposer and the Nominee must both be authorised representatives of members entitled to attend and vote at such meeting; which members must not be in arrears or otherwise have any money due and owing to the Association.

**Re-imburement of expenses**

**27.**

The Association shall repay to any member of the Executive Committee all such reasonable expenses as he may incur in connection with or about the business or management of the Association or may

pay to such member such allowances as the Executive Committee thinks proper in respect of such expenses. Other than in respect of the foregoing, no member of the Executive Committee shall be entitled to any remuneration or salary by virtue of his office as an Executive Committee Member.

### **POWERS AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE**

**Business of Executive Committee**

- 28.** The business and affairs of the Association including the recruitment and dismissal of staff shall be under the direction of the Executive Committee.

**Meetings of the Executive Committee**

- 29.**
- (a) Meetings of the Executive Committee shall be held as often as shall be found necessary and the Committee shall regulate their meetings as they think fit.
  - (b) Questions arising at any meetings of the Executive Committee shall be decided by a majority of votes and in the event of an equality of votes the President or the acting President shall have a second or casting vote.
  - (c) The Secretary on the instructions of the President or in his absence the Deputy-President or any three Executive Committee members shall at any time convene a meeting of the Executive Committee.
  - (d) Notice of a meeting of the Executive Committee shall be given to all members of the Executive Committee and such notice shall be accompanied by an agenda of the meeting (unless such agenda be incorporated in the notice itself) and all documents or copies thereof as may be relevant to the meeting.

**Quorum for Executive Committee meetings**

- 30.** The quorum for a meeting of the Executive Committee shall, unless otherwise determined by the Executive Committee, be three members, and a



business of the Association, the member body of the country that nominated the current President of the Association, shall with the approval of the Executive Committee establish an appropriate administrative unit and place the same at the disposal of such President.

(c) The Association shall subject to the approval of the Executive Committee, meet the costs incurred by the administrative unit.

**Borrowing powers**            **35.**        The Executive Committee may raise or borrow any sum or sums of money for the purposes of the Association and may secure the same in such manner as deemed fit.

**Signing of cheques, etc**            **36.**        The Executive Committee shall be entitled to open in the name of Association such Bank Account or Accounts as it considers necessary or prudent and shall be empowered in connection therewith to issue the necessary banking mandates and to make deposits and withdrawals of monies, issue cheques, drafts, promissory notes or other negotiable instruments which shall be signed, drawn, accepted endorsed or otherwise executed as the case may be in such manner as the Executive Committee shall from time to time by resolution determine.

### **ACCOUNTS**

**Books of Account**            **37.**        (a) The Executive Committee shall cause proper books of account to be kept with respect to;

- (i) all sums of money received and expended by the Association and the matters in respect of which the receipt and expenditure takes place;
- (ii) all sales and purchases of goods by the Association; and
- (iii) the assets and liabilities of the Association.

(b) Proper books shall not be deemed to be kept if there are not kept such books of account as are necessary to give a true and fair view of the state of the Association's affairs and to explain its transactions.

**Where books of Accounts to be kept**

**38.**

The books of Accounts shall be kept at the Registered Office of the Association and shall always be open to the inspection of the Committee.

**Inspection of books of accounts**

**39.**

(a) No Members have any right of inspecting any account or book or document of the Association except as conferred by statute or authorised by the Executive Committee or by the Association at a general meeting.

(b) The Executive Committee shall from time to time determine whether, and to what extent, and at what times and places, and under what conditions and rules, the accounts, books or the documents of the Association, or any of them, shall be open to the inspection of members not being members of the Executive Committee.

**Laying of accounts**

**40.**

The Executive Committee shall from time to time in accordance with the provisions of the Act cause to be prepared and to be laid before the Association in general meeting such account of income and expenditure, balance sheets, and reports as are referred to in these presents.

**Accounts to be sent to every member**

**41.**

A copy of every balance sheet (including every document required by law to be annexed thereto) which is to be laid before the Association in general meeting together with a copy of the auditor's report shall not less than twenty one days before the date of the meeting be sent to every member of the Association.

Provided that this article shall not require a copy of such documents to be sent to any member of whose address the association is not aware.

**Auditors**                      **42.**        Auditors shall be appointed and their duties regulated in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

**THE SECRETARY**

**Appointment and Duties of the Secretary**                      **43.**        (a) The Executive Committee may from time to time appoint and employ and at their discretion remove any individual as the Secretary of the Association (in these presents called "the Secretary") whose duty it shall be to keep all records and registers required by the statutes to be kept by the Association to record and maintain the minutes, to perform any other functions which by these presents are to be performed by the Secretary, and generally to execute all other duties which may from time to time be assigned by the Committee to the Secretary.

(b) The right to appoint a secretary shall include the right to appoint Deputy Secretaries and Assistant Secretaries.

(c) A Deputy Secretary shall act for the Secretary whenever delegated to do so.

**THE SEAL**

**Affixing of the Seal**                      **44.**        The seal of the Association shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of a resolution of the Executive Committee and in the presence of any two members of the Executive Committee; or any one member of the Executive Committee and the Secretary; or such other persons as the Executive Committee may appoint for the purpose, and such members of the Executive Committee or member of the Executive Committee and the Secretary or other persons as aforesaid shall sign every instrument to which the seal of the association is so affixed in their presence.

## **AUTHENTICATION OF DOCUMENTS**

### **Power to authenticate Documents**

- 45.** Any member of the Executive Committee or the Secretary or Deputy Secretary shall have power to authenticate any documents affecting the constitution of the Association (including the Memorandum and Articles of Association) and any resolution passed by the Association and any books, records, documents and accounts relating to the business of the Association and also to certify copies thereof or extracts therefrom as true copies or extracts.

## **DISPUTES, DOUBTS OR AMBIGUITY**

### **Procedures of settlement of Disputes etc**

- 46.**
- (a) In case of any dispute between members inter se or in the case of any doubt or ambiguity relating to the interpretation of the provisions herein contained or any clarification on any matters not covered by these presents, the Rules and By-Laws or the Code of Ethics or complaints or infringement by whomsoever made, the decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and conclusive.
  - (b) In arriving at a decision under this Article, the Executive Committee shall as far as possible pursue the amicable resolution of any such disputes.
  - (c) All disputes between a member and the Association which are not amicably resolved by the Executive Committee shall be settled by arbitration in Nairobi in accordance with the laws of Kenya.
  - (d) Any legal action howsoever arising by or against the Association shall be filed in Nairobi and determined in accordance with the laws of Kenya.

- (e) A member shall meet the costs incurred by the member in any proceedings under this Article.

## **COMMUNICATION**

**Sending of Notices      47.**

- (a) A notice may be given by the Association to any member either personally or by sending it by post to him to his registered address supplied by him to the Association for the giving of notice to him.
- (b) Where a notice is sent by post, service of the notice shall be deemed to be effected by properly addressing preparing and posting a letter containing the notice, and to have been effected in the case of a notice of a meeting, at the expiration of twenty four hours after the letter containing the same is posted and service thereof shall for all purposes be sufficiently proved if that the cover containing the same was properly addressed, prepaid and posted.

**Electronic Communication      48.**

- (a) Any information or document that is required to be communicated under these Articles shall not be invalid or unenforceable by reason only of being in electronic form.

Provided that no person who uses, provides or accepts information or a document shall be required to use, provide or accept it in electronic form without the person's consent.

- (b) This Article is subject to any provision of law applicable to a member that expressly prohibits the use of electronic communication, or expressly requires communication to be in a specified form.

## **WINDING UP**

**Prior Approval Required      49.**

No winding up or liquidation proceedings shall be initiated by any member of the Association except

with the prior approval of the Executive Committee.

- Contributories**                      **50.**                      If the Association shall be wound up every person who was a member within a period of twelve (12) months before such date, shall contribute to the assets of the Association for payment of the debts and liabilities of the Association contracted before the time at which he ceases to be a member, and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up the same, and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories amongst themselves, such amount as may be required not exceeding the sum of Kenya Shillings ten thousand (Kshs.10,000).
- Application of Clause 5 of the Memorandum of Association**                      **51.**                      The provisions of Clause 5 of the Memorandum of Association relating to the winding up or dissolution of the Association shall have effect and be observed as if the same were repeated in these Articles.

### **INDEMNITY**

- Indemnity to officers**                      **52.**                      Save and except so far as the provisions of this Article shall be avoided by any provisions of the Act, the Executive Committee, the Secretary, Auditors and other officers including employees for the time being of the Association acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Association shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Association from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about in the respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own wilful neglect or default respectively.

In Witness whereof the Subscribers to the Memorandum of Association have hereto set and subscribed their names in pursuance of this Articles of Association.

-----

Names, Addresses and Descriptions  
of the Subscribers

Signature of Subscriber

Names, Addresses and Descriptions of the Subscribers	Signature of Subscriber

-----

Names, Addresses and Descriptions  
of the Subscribers

Signature of Subscriber


**DATED the \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_**

**Witness to the above signatures:**

**NAME: .....**

**OCCUPATION: .....**

**POSTAL ADDRESS .....**

**SIGNATURE: .....**

**CERTIFICATE UNDER COMPANIES REGULATIONS**

This is to certify that the above Articles of Association have been produced by the method of XEROGRAPHY.

